NACIONES UNIDAS



Distr. GENERAL

E/CN.4/Sub.2/2002/9 25 de junio de 2002

ESPAÑOL

Original: INGLÉS

COMISIÓN DE DERECHOS HUMANOS Subcomisión de Promoción y Protección de los Derechos Humanos 54º período de sesiones Tema 4 del programa provisional

DERECHOS ECONÓMICOS, SOCIALES Y CULTURALES

La liberalización del comercio de servicios y los derechos humanos

Informe de la Alta Comisionada*

Resumen ejecutivo

El presente informe se presenta en respuesta a la Subcomisión, que pidió al Alto Comisionado, en su resolución 2001/4, que presentara un informe sobre las consecuencias para los derechos humanos de la liberalización del comercio de servicios, especialmente en el marco del Acuerdo General del Comercio de Servicios (AGCS).

El informe es el tercero de una serie de la Alta Comisionada sobre los derechos humanos y el comercio; los otros dos se refieren al Acuerdo sobre los Aspectos de los Derechos de Propiedad Intelectual relacionados con el Comercio, de la OMC (E/CN.4/Sub.2/2001/13), y al

El informe se presentó después de la fecha fijada por la Asamblea General, a fin de disponer del tiempo suficiente para distribuir el documento para el debate y de incorporar los comentarios recibidos.

^{*} El presente informe rebasa el límite de páginas fijado por la Asamblea General. Por lo tanto, sólo se traduce el resumen ejecutivo a todos los idiomas oficiales de las Naciones Unidas. El anexo se distribuye en el idioma original solamente.

Acuerdo sobre la Agricultura, de la OMC (E/CN.4/2002/54). El presente informe se basa en los análisis de los anteriores. Comienza estableciendo la relación existente entre los derechos humanos y el comercio, centrándose en los principios y normas de derechos humanos y en los informes anteriores de la Alta Comisionada.

En particular, señala que todos los miembros de la OMC han asumido obligaciones para fomentar y proteger los derechos humanos, e indica que en el enfoque de los derechos humanos en relación con el comercio:

- a) Se determina la promoción y protección de los derechos humanos entre los objetivos de la liberalización del comercio;
- b) Se examinan los efectos de la liberalización del comercio sobre las personas y se trata de que en la legislación y la política sobre el comercio se han de tener en cuenta los derechos de todos, y en particular de las personas y grupos vulnerables;
- c) Se insiste en la función del Estado en el proceso de liberalización, no sólo como negociador de leyes sobre el comercio y formulador de la política comercial, sino también como responsable principal de la aplicación de los derechos humanos;
- d) Se trata de lograr la coherencia entre la liberalización progresiva del comercio y la realización progresiva de los derechos humanos;
- e) Se exige un constante examen de los efectos de la liberalización del comercio sobre el disfrute de los derechos humanos:
- f) Se promueve la cooperación internacional para la realización de los derechos humanos y de las libertades en el contexto de la liberalización del comercio.

El informe presenta el comercio de servicios. El comercio internacional de servicios puede abarcar una amplia gama de ellos: desde los servicios de transporte, telecomunicaciones y turismo hasta los de salud, educación y agua, y otros. El comercio internacional de servicios está aumentando, y su importancia para el comercio en general guarda cada vez más relación con el comercio de mercancías. El comercio internacional de servicios puede realizarse en cuatro formas principales, a saber:

- a) Suministro transfronterizo de servicios. El suministro de un servicio a través de una frontera, en el que ni el proveedor ni el consumidor del servicio abandonan sus propios países.
- b) *Consumo en el extranjero*. El suministro de un servicio en el que el consumidor se desplaza físicamente de un país a otro para obtener un servicio.
- c) *Presencia comercial*. El suministro de un servicio en el que el proveedor ofrece un servicio en otro país por medio de una agencia, una sucursal, una filial, una empresa mixta, etc.
- d) *Presencia de personas físicas*. El suministro de un servicio cuando alguien entra temporalmente en otro país para proporcionarlo.

El informe presenta luego el Acuerdo General sobre el Comercio de Servicios (AGCS). Si bien hay muchas políticas, acuerdos y leyes que determinan y configuran la liberalización del comercio de servicios, el AGCS es importante por ser el primer acuerdo multilateral que establece un marco jurídico para el proceso de liberalización. El AGCS comprende obligaciones generales que se aplican a todos los servicios que entran en el ámbito del AGCS para todos los miembros de la OMC. El acuerdo permite también a los Estados comprometerse voluntariamente a liberalizar sectores de servicios específicos. Cada país lleva una lista de esos compromisos específicos por países. También es importante que el AGCS incluya el principio comercial de "no discriminación", conocido como "nación más favorecida", así como el de "trato nacional". Después de hacer una reseña del AGCS, el informe examina las obligaciones de los Estados para promover y proteger los derechos humanos más directamente afectados por la liberalización del comercio de servicios, y concretamente el derecho a la salud (incluido el derecho a agua potable), el derecho a la educación y el derecho al desarrollo.

La liberalización del comercio de servicios puede influir en esos derechos en diversas formas, dependiendo de una serie de cuestiones, entre ellas el tipo de servicios suministrado, el modo de prestarlo, el nivel de desarrollo del país y su infraestructura interna, el entorno reglamentario y el nivel de servicios existentes antes de la liberalización. Una cuestión de particular relevancia es el efecto del aumento de la inversión extrajera directa (IED), en particular del sector privado, y sus efectos sobre el ejercicio de los derechos humanos. Si bien la IED puede mejorar las infraestructuras nacionales, introducir nueva tecnología y ofrecer oportunidades de empleo, la IED también puede tener efectos no deseados cuando la reglamentación sea insuficiente para proteger los derechos humanos. En particular, como en cualquier escenario de privatización nacional, el aumento de la inversión privada extranjera puede producir los siguientes resultados:

- a) El establecimiento de un suministro de servicios de dos niveles, con un sector empresarial centrado en las personas sanas y ricas y un sector público insuficientemente financiado centrado en los pobres y los enfermos;
- b) La pérdida de personal especializado, pues los facultativos médicos y los educadores mejor formados pasan al sector privado atraídos por mayores sueldos y mejores infraestructuras;
- c) Una excesiva insistencia en los objetivos comerciales a expensas de los objetivos sociales, que podría centrarse más en la provisión de servicios de salud, agua y educación de calidad para quienes no pueden pagarlos a las tarifas comerciales;
- d) Un sector privado cada vez más amplio y poderoso que puede amenazar la función del gobierno como principal responsable de los derechos humanos, subvirtiendo los sistemas reglamentarios mediante la presión política o la cooptación de reguladores.

El informe señala que, en la medida en que esos fenómenos pueden vincularse con la liberalización del comercio de servicios, los reguladores han de ser conscientes de garantizar que en las políticas de liberalización se tengan en cuenta las responsabilidades del Estado en cuanto

a respetar, proteger y ejercer los derechos humanos. La normativa sobre derechos humanos no impone obligaciones a los Estados de proporcionar exclusivamente servicios esenciales; sin embargo, los Estados han de garantizar la disponibilidad, la accesibilidad, la aceptabilidad y la adaptabilidad de servicios esenciales, incluido su suministro, especialmente a los pobres, a los vulnerables y a los marginados.

Expresamente con respecto al AGCS, el informe señala que, en vista de las oportunidades y dificultades derivadas de la liberalización del comercio de servicios para el ejercicio de los derechos humanos, es importante comprender la interacción entre las normas y disciplinas del AGCS y las reglas y normas sobre derechos humanos. En particular:

- a) El AGCS tiene un amplio ámbito. La Alta Comisionada estimula las interpretaciones del ámbito del AGCS para tener la seguridad de que las obligaciones que impone no condicionan la adopción de medidas por los gobiernos para promover y proteger los derechos humanos.
- b) En la reglamentación de muchos países figuran medidas que pueden entrar en el ámbito del AGCS. Si bien el AGCS reconoce el derecho de los gobiernos a reglamentar en su preámbulo, existe la cuestión de hasta qué punto puede el AGCS influir en la reglamentación de los gobiernos que pueda tener efectos sobre el comercio, incluidas las disposiciones relativas a promoción y protección de los derechos humanos. En consecuencia, en las valoraciones o "pruebas" de la restricción del comercio en la reglamentación nacional en virtud del AGCS se deben tener en cuenta las obligaciones de los Estados derivadas de la normativa de derechos humanos.
- c) Tanto en el AGCS como en la normativa de derechos humanos figura el principio de la discriminación; sin embargo, hay distinciones en la aplicación del principio. La Alta Comisionada destaca la necesidad de lograr que en la aplicación del derecho mercantil se tenga en cuenta el principio de los derechos humanos de no discriminación, inclusive salvaguardando el uso de mecanismos, como la "subvención cruzada" para lograr que los pobres, los vulnerables y los marginados no sufran discriminación al acceder a los servicios en mercados liberalizados.
- d) El AGCS comprende excepciones generales para proteger la moral pública, así como la vida y la salud de las personas y de los animales o para preservar los vegetales, y la protección de determinados aspectos de la intimidad de los particulares. Puede considerarse que esto está vinculado con la necesidad de promover y proteger los derechos humanos en el proceso de liberalización.
- e) El AGCS pretende la liberalización del comercio de servicios mediante la apertura progresiva de los mercados de servicios de los Estados. Sin embargo, a veces es necesario que los Estados den prueba de alguna flexibilidad para modificar y retirar compromisos específicos de los países a liberalizar el comercio de servicios, teniendo presente que han de cumplir sus obligaciones respecto a los derechos humanos.

- f) Los compromisos específicos de los países para liberalizar los sectores de servicio en el ámbito del AGCS pueden tener efectos positivos y negativos sobre el ejercicio de los derechos humanos. En consecuencia se debe alentar a los miembros de la OMC a que evalúen las repercusiones de la aplicación del AGCS sobre el ejercicio de los derechos humanos como parte de las negociaciones en curso sobre el AGCS. Las evaluaciones deben abarcar la experiencia y los posibles efectos de los futuros compromisos de liberalización.
- g) Los países desarrollados, de conformidad con sus responsabilidades en la cooperación internacional para promover los derechos humanos, deben compartir los conocimientos financieros y técnicos para ayudar a los países en desarrollo a realizar evaluaciones.

Por último, la Alta Comisionada señala una lista de esferas en que se requieren nuevas medidas para fomentar los enfoques sobre derechos humanos en relación con la liberalización del comercio de servicios, entre ellas las siguientes:

- a) Garantizar el mismo acceso a los servicios básicos. La Alta Comisionada alienta a los Estados a que tomen medidas para garantizar el suministro universal de servicios esenciales, inclusive utilizando la acción afirmativa para prestar servicios a los pobres, los aislados y los marginados, teniendo en cuenta las circunstancias y capacidades nacionales.
- b) Garantizar el derecho y el deber de los gobiernos a reglamentar. La Alta Comisionada estimula las interpretaciones de las disposiciones del AGCS en que se reconoce la necesidad de que los países conserven la flexibilidad de utilizar instrumentos de desarrollo, como la "subvención cruzada" o la reglamentación del buen gobierno de las empresas, en respuesta a las necesidades de desarrollo nacional.
- c) Estimular las interpretaciones del AGCS compatibles con los derechos humanos. La Alta Comisionada recuerda a los miembros de la OMC sus obligaciones concurrentes en virtud de la normativa de derechos humanos y alienta la elaboración de normas o "pruebas" que reconozcan y protejan los deberes de los Estados sobre los derechos humanos al determinar o evaluar si una medida restringe el comercio.
- d) Realizar evaluaciones de políticas comerciales relacionadas con los derechos humanos. La Alta Comisionada resalta el carácter voluntario de los compromisos de liberalizar el comercio de servicios, y resalta la necesidad de contraer compromisos sobre la base de pruebas empíricas sólidas.
- e) Proporcionar cooperación y asistencia internacionales. La Alta Comisionada recuerda a los países desarrollados su compromiso de proporcionar el 0,7 del PIB como ayuda oficial al desarrollo. Además, la Alta Comisionada recuerda a los Estados su responsabilidad de negociar de manera que los países más pobres puedan mantener la máxima flexibilidad para elaborar políticas que les permitan cumplir sus compromisos de progresiva realización de los derechos humanos.

- f) Intensificar el diálogo sobre los derechos humanos y el comercio. La Alta Comisionada alienta a una mayor consulta entre delegados a la OMC y delegados que representan al mismo país como miembros u observadores en la Comisión de Derechos Humanos sobre los vínculos entre los derechos humanos y el comercio, y sobre las particulares formas de lograr la coherencia en la política y la legislación.
- g) Labor futura. La Alta Comisionada recomienda que la Subcomisión considere la posibilidad de solicitar un informe sobre "derechos humanos, comercio e inversión".

Annex

LIBERALIZATION OF TRADE IN SERVICES AND HUMAN RIGHTS: REPORT OF THE HIGH COMMISSIONER

CONTENTS

		<u>Paragraphs</u>	Page
Introduction		1 - 3	7
I.	HUMAN RIGHTS AND TRADE	4 - 14	7
II.	HUMAN RIGHTS AND TRADE IN SERVICES	15 - 37	12
	A. Introduction to trade in services	15 - 18	12
	B. The General Agreement on Trade in Services	19 - 27	14
	C. Relevant norms and standards of human rights law	28 - 37	16
III.	THE IMPACT OF TRADE IN SERVICES ON HUMAN RIGHTS	38 - 67	19
	A. Issues arising from the liberalization of trade in services	38 - 50	19
	B. Issues arising from GATS	51 - 67	24
IV	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	68 - 75	20

Introduction

- 1. In its resolution 2001/4, the Sub-Commission requested the High Commissioner to submit a report on the human rights implications of the liberalization of trade in services, particularly in the framework of the General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS) of the World Trade Organization (WTO), to its fifty-fourth session. The High Commissioner submits the present report in response to the resolution.
- 2. The report is the third in a series of reports of the High Commissioner concerning human rights and trade. At the fifty-third session of the Sub-Commission, the High Commissioner submitted the first report on trade and human rights (E/CN.4/Sub.2/2001/13) which considered the human rights implications of the WTO's Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (the TRIPS Agreement). That report examined the TRIPS Agreement in light of the obligations on States under the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and reviewed specific ways in which the Agreement could be interpreted and implemented that are consistent with the right to access essential medicines. The High Commissioner submitted the second report on trade and human rights to the fifty-eighth session of the Commission on Human Rights (E/CN.4/2002/54) which focused on the WTO Agreement on Agriculture. That report examined ways in which the ongoing reform process concerning agricultural trade could be directed towards protecting the right to food and the right to development of people in developing countries, in particular by introducing enforceable special and differential assistance for developing countries and by achieving real market access for agricultural products of developing countries in the countries of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD).
- 3. The present report will build on the analyses in these previous reports, this time focusing on the liberalization of trade in services and its relationship with the enjoyment of human rights, in particular the right to health, the right to education and the right to development. The report begins with a general outline of the relationship between human rights and trade drawing on human rights principles and standards as well as the previous reports of the High Commissioner. The report then introduces trade in services and the WTO General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS) and sets out the norms and standards of human rights most relevant to the liberalization of trade in services. Part II begins with the third section which lists the issues arising, first in the liberalization of trade in services generally, and then specifically in the framework of the GATS. The final section sets out the conclusions and recommendations of the High Commissioner, including her recommendations for further work. As with the previous reports, the present report has been drafted in consultation with other international organizations, specifically WTO and the World Health Organization (WHO). Consultations were also held with human rights experts, academics and civil society.

I. HUMAN RIGHTS AND TRADE

4. International trade law and human rights law have grown up more or less in isolation from each other. Yet as trade rules increasingly broaden their scope into areas that affect the enjoyment of human rights, commentators are recognizing the links between the two, seeking to understand how human rights and trade interact, in an attempt to provide greater coherence to international law and policy-making and a more balanced international and social order. The

logic behind understanding these links is compelling. While WTO Agreements provide a legal framework for the economic aspects of the liberalization of trade, they focus on commercial objectives. The norms and standards of human rights provide the means of providing a legal framework for the social dimensions of trade liberalization.

- 5. The legal basis for adopting human rights approaches to trade liberalization is clear. All WTO members have undertaken obligations under human rights law. All 144 members of the WTO have ratified at least one human rights instrument, 112 have ratified the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR) and all but one have ratified the Convention on the Rights of the Child. Further, those areas of human rights law recognized as customary international law take on universal application, which means that trade rules should be interpreted as consistent with those norms and standards whatever the treaty commitments of States in trade matters. In other words, whatever the human rights treaty obligations undertaken by particular States, WTO members have concurrent human rights obligations under international law and should therefore promote and protect human rights during the negotiation and implementation of international rules on trade liberalization. The rest of this section attempts to identify the main elements of human rights approaches to trade liberalization, with particular reference to interpretative material concerning the ICESCR as well as the previous reports of the High Commissioner relevant to human rights and trade (E/CN.4/Sub.2/2001/13, E/CN.4/2002/54).
- 6. A human rights approach sets as entitlements the basic needs necessary to lead a life in dignity and ensures their protection in the processes of economic liberalization. Article 1 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights states that "(a)ll human beings are born free and equal in dignity and rights" the protection of which, through the rule of law, is necessary if recourse to rebellion is to be avoided. The Universal Declaration establishes the civil, cultural, economic, political and social needs necessary to human dignity and transforms these needs into legal entitlements or rights to be protected, including, by extension, in the processes of trade liberalization. The legal imperative of respecting human rights means that States are accountable for ensuring that these entitlements cannot be reduced to mere privileges or luxuries or left subject to the whim of markets. The content of these basic entitlements have since been elaborated at the national, regional and international level. Of particular relevance to international trade are the Limburg Principles on the Implementation of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Maastricht Guidelines on Violations of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the general comments of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR)ⁱⁱ on health, education, food and housing, all of which have added considerable clarity to these entitlements and the obligations on States to protect them.
- 7. The fundamental nature of these entitlements as rights requires an approach that sets the promotion and protection of human rights as objectives of trade liberalization, not as exceptions. In her report on the TRIPS Agreement (E/CN.4/Sub.2/2001/13), the High Commissioner noted that the need to promote public health, nutrition, environment and development was acknowledged in that agreement, but only as an exception to the rules. In contrast, she noted that a human rights approach would place the promotion and protection of human rights at the heart of the objectives of intellectual property protection, rather than only as permitted exceptions that are subordinated to the other provisions in the TRIPS Agreement. More recently, the CESCR has stated that "Ultimately, the end which intellectual property protection should serve is the

objective of human well-being to which the international human rights instruments give legal expression" (E/C.12/2001/15, para. 4). Human rights approaches to trade generalize this position to apply to the negotiation, implementation and monitoring of all agreements and policies that drive trade liberalization - whether in goods, services or intellectual property. In this way, a human rights approach examines trade law and policy comprehensively, focusing not only on economic growth, markets or economic development but also on health systems, education, water supply, food security, labour, political processes and so on.

- 8. In setting comprehensive objectives for trade liberalization that go beyond commercial objectives, a human rights approach examines the effect of trade liberalization on individuals and seeks trade law and policy that take into account the rights of all individuals, in particular vulnerable individuals. The basis for this approach is derived from the notion that the human person is the central subject of human development, iii and that everyone can claim and enjoy rights without discrimination. Non-discrimination, together with equality and equal protection before the law, is a fundamental principle relating to the protection of human rights. The Human Rights Committee has stated its belief that "discrimination" as used in the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights should be understood "to imply any distinction, exclusion, restriction or preference which is based on any ground such as race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status and which has the purpose or effect of nullifying or impairing the recognition, enjoyment or exercise by all persons, on an equal footing, of all rights and freedoms".iv In seeking equality in the exercise and enjoyment of rights, the human rights principle of non-discrimination does not, however, require equal treatment to everyone in all cases. Affirmative action for the poor, marginalized and vulnerable might be appropriate at times. While non-discrimination is also a principle of trade law, there is nonetheless a distinction in the application of the principle. While trade law seeks non-discrimination in the application of laws between nationals and non-nationals and between non-nationals of other WTO member States, the human rights principle of non-discrimination is designed to achieve justice and equality between all individuals, whatever their status. In the context of agricultural trade, the High Commissioner observed that, while trade law envisages equal treatment for national and non-nationals - whether poor farmers or large agrobusinesses - the principle of non-discrimination under human rights law will consider the impact of trade rules, not only on the need to minimize trade distortions, but also on individuals, in particular vulnerable individuals and groups, and set rules accordingly (E/CN.4/2002/54, paras. 42 and 43).
- 9. Taking into account the need to focus on individuals, in particular vulnerable individuals and groups, a human rights approach to trade liberalization promotes the need to examine the right form and pace of liberalization depending on national circumstances. The Declaration on the Right to Development declares that "(s)tates have the right and the duty to formulate appropriate national development policies that aim at the constant improvement of the well-being of the entire population and of all individuals, on the basis of their active, free and meaningful participation in development and in the fair distribution of the benefits resulting therefrom". The High Commissioner has recognized that, while all international treaties can take away a degree of autonomy from States, States have responsibilities to ensure that the loss of autonomy does not disproportionately reduce their capacity to set and implement national development policy (E/CN.4/Sub.2/2001/13, para. 24; E/CN.4/2002/54, para. 41). States therefore have a responsibility to consider how commitments undertaken internationally impact on the right to

development in that country. Indeed, the High Commissioner has concluded that the opening of markets in a manner that is conducive to the protection of human rights depends on the particular circumstances of the country in question and encourages the negotiation and interpretation of trade rules that acknowledges this (E/CN.4/2002/54, para. 42). Developing countries should therefore be careful to ensure the form and pace of liberalization appropriate for national circumstances and not bargain away the possibility of using development tools that wealthy countries have previously used. At the same time, developed countries have responsibilities to take into account the particular obligations of developing countries to meet their responsibilities to protect human rights and ensure operational special and differential treatment for developing countries accordingly.

- 10. A human rights approach emphasizes the role of the State in the process of liberalization. While individuals and vulnerable groups are the beneficiaries of human rights, the State holds the primary responsibility for protecting those rights. A human rights approach to trade liberalization therefore emphasizes the role of the State, not only as negotiator of trade rules and setter of trade policy, but also as the duty bearer for human rights. Under human rights law, States have obligations to respect, protect and fulfil human rights. In the field of economic, social and cultural rights: vi
- (a) The obligation to respect requires States to refrain from interfering with the enjoyment of economic, social and cultural rights;
- (b) The obligation to protect requires States to prevent violations of such rights by third parties;
- (c) The obligation to fulfil requires States to take appropriate legislative, administrative, budgetary, judicial and other measures towards the full realization of such rights.

The Maastricht Guidelines on Violations of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights note the trend in all regions of the world to reduce the role of the State, relying on market forces to resolve problems concerning human welfare, often as a result of efforts to attract investments from multinational enterprises or to respond to the conditions generated by international and national financial markets and institutions. In this respect, the obligations on States to respect, protect and fulfil human rights include the responsibility to ensure that private entities or individuals, including transnational corporations over which they exercise jurisdiction, do not deprive individuals of their economic, social and cultural rights. vii

11. A human rights approach requires progressive trade liberalization to be consistent with the progressive realization of human rights. Viii While there are elements in all human rights that should be implemented immediately - such as respect for the principle of non-discrimination - there are other elements that require time, resources and planning to realize, depending on the particular conditions existing in the country in question. Nonetheless, States have undertaken to move as expeditiously as possible towards the progressive realization of those elements. At the same time, trade rules envisage a process of legal and policy development towards achieving progressively higher levels of liberalization. While these two processes need not move in opposite or conflicting directions, the adoption of any deliberately retrogressive measure in the liberalization process that reduces the extent to which any human right is protected constitutes a

violation of human rights. A human rights approach therefore seeks the means of ensuring that these two processes - progressive realization of human rights and progressive trade liberalization - can be implemented simultaneously and coherently.

- 12. A human rights approach requires a constant examination of trade law and policy as it affects the enjoyment of human rights. Assessing the potential and real impact of trade policy and law on the enjoyment of human rights is perhaps the principal means of avoiding the implementation of any retrogressive measure that reduces the enjoyment of human rights. Human rights assessments of liberalization provide both a set of targets and standards for assessments as well as a methodology for undertaking assessments. Thus, human rights assessments gauge the implementation of trade policies on a set of outcomes according to the subject matter of human rights - health care, education, food security and so on. Further, human rights assessments introduce a methodology for assessments that promotes popular participation and consultation of the people affected by liberalization - the poor, people dependent on public services, rural as well as urban dwellers, small business people and so on. Further, such a consultative process would seek the opinion, not only of trade and industry ministries but also ministries dealing with social issues such as health and education. Further, a human rights approach to assessments emphasizes transparency and accountability so that the outcomes of assessments and negotiation processes in trade forums are open to public scrutiny. Consequently, essential to a human rights approach to trade is a cautious approach to the setting of trade policy and rules, based on sound evidence that any particular strategy will promote the enjoyment of human rights, not only lead to increased investment or economic growth.
- 13. A human rights approach promotes international cooperation for the realization of all human rights and fundamental freedoms. International cooperation has two important elements. First, international cooperation must be directed towards the establishment of a social and international order in which all human rights can be fully realized. The Secretary-General has stated that "such an international and social order is one that promotes the inherent dignity of the human person, respects the right of people to self-determination and seeks social progress through participatory development and by promoting equality and non-discrimination in a peaceful, interdependent and accountable world" (A/55/342, para. 7). As noted recently by the High Commissioner, "achieving fair and equitable trade liberalization by adopting human rights approaches to WTO rules will be an important step in establishing a just international and social order and a failure to do so could perpetuate or even exacerbate existing inequalities" (E/CN.4/2002/54, para. 9).
- 14. Second, States have undertaken to take steps, both individually and through international assistance and cooperation, to promote human rights. The High Commissioner has already identified some of the areas that are appropriate for international cooperation in the field of trade such as improving market access opportunities for developing countries, operationalizing special and differential treatment provisions for developing countries, introducing special and differential treatment for developing countries that is targeted at vulnerable people and groups, increasing finance for development to allow policies that are targeted to allow developing countries to make the most of the flexibilities available to them under trade agreements, encouraging developed countries to establish clear incentives to promote technology transfer, and assisting developing countries, in particular countries acceding to the WTO, in trade negotiations (E/CN.4/Sub.2/2001/13, para. 67; E/CN.4/2002/54, paras. 47-53). Importantly, the

High Commissioner stresses that international assistance and cooperation involves States working together. In this sense, human rights should not be used as disguised barriers to trade. International cooperation also requires States to act consistently with their human rights obligations at the international level. In particular, the Maastricht Guidelines recognize that a failure of a State to take into account its international legal obligations in the field of economic, social and cultural rights when entering into bilateral or multilateral agreements with other States, international organizations or multinational corporations constitutes a violation of human rights. xiii

II. HUMAN RIGHTS AND TRADE IN SERVICES

A. Introduction to trade in services

- 15. Services can be offered in relation to a vast range of economic activities of importance to both economic and social issues, such as health care, education, water supply, telecommunications, tourism, transport, construction, banking and finance and many other economic and social spheres. Importantly, services act as an essential input into the production of goods and even other services and as a result can facilitate growth and development. The OECD notes, for example, that promoting trade and investment in services in key infrastructural service sectors such as telecommunications, finance, transport and energy as well as business and legal services can remove impediments to economic growth in developing countries as well as maximize the benefits from the internationalization of services markets. xiv Not only can services liberalization affect economic growth and trade, it can also have an impact on the provision of essential entitlements accepted as human rights such as health care, education and water. In relation to health care, for example, a report to the WHO Commission on Macroeconomics estimated the commercial value of the health-care sector at around \$3 trillion in 2001, which it expects to rise to \$4 trillion by 2005, and observed that it is one of the most rapidly growing service sectors and therefore one that could have a significant impact on the enjoyment of human rights.xv
- 16. International trade in services can occur in a number of ways which can best be described by reference to the classification in GATS. The GATS breaks down trade in services in four different modes as follows:
- (a) Cross-border supply cross-border supply (or mode 1) refers to the supply of a service across a border where both the service provider and consumer do not leave their respective countries. An example of cross-border supply is the offering of telemedicine services curative medicine via the Internet in Canada, for consumption by a patient in Venezuela;
- (b) Consumption abroad consumption abroad (or mode 2) refers to the supply of a service where the consumer physically travels from one country to another to obtain a service. An example of consumption abroad is a Thai student travelling to the United States to undertake graduate studies in a United States university;

- (c) *Commercial presence* commercial presence (or mode 3) refers to a service supplier offering a service in another country through, for example, an agency, branch, subsidiary or joint venture. An example is a Singapore telecommunications corporation offering telephone services in a neighbouring country through a subsidiary;
- (d) *Presence of natural persons* the presence or movement of natural persons (or mode 4) refers to people temporarily entering another country in order to provide a service. An example would be a Filipino nurse offering nursing services in the United Kingdom for a limited period of time.
- 17. The international trade in services is growing. Between 1985 and 1999, annual growth for cross-border supply of services and consumption abroad (modes 1 and 2 above) was over 9 per cent per annum compared to 8.2 per cent for trade in goods although services account for no more than one fifth of total cross-border trade. OECD countries dominate global trade and investment in services although developing countries are increasing their share of global services markets, in particular in areas such as tourism, labour mobility, software development services and transaction processing and, over the past 10 years, the gap between OECD and developing countries' share of services markets has been narrowing. To illustrate the relative importance of services to country groupings in relation to gross domestic product (GDP), in 1998 services accounted for 65 per cent of GDP in high-income countries, 56 per cent in middle-income countries and 38 per cent in low-income countries. Between 1980 and 1998, the services share in world GDP rose by 5 per cent while the increase for low- and middle-income countries has been estimated at 9 per cent. It should be noted, however, that these figures do not go so far as to indicate the amount of these services that were traded internationally.
- 18. The globalization and liberalization of trade in services has been driven by many factors. In particular, technological advances have allowed for the provision of better services at lower costs while also provoking more competition in areas that were once dominated by monopoly service suppliers. Similarly, improved and cheaper travel has increased the mobility of service suppliers and consumers. Given the catalyst role of services, the ongoing liberalization of trade in goods has also promoted growth in service supply. Government policies have also played a role in promoting globalization and liberalization. For example, changing approaches to domestic regulation and investment regimes, declining public expenditures and withdrawal of public participation in certain service areas have provided the conditions for service supply by increasingly large and powerful corporations. At the regional and international levels, agreements such as the North America Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) or GATS have provided legal frameworks to promote progressive liberalization. Nonetheless, within this context, regulation of the supply of services is still necessary to promote development, or to ensure the provision of essential services such as health, education or water, and comprehensive regulation is often needed to ensure non-discriminatory and equitable service supply according to social needs rather than market demands.

B. The General Agreement on Trade in Services

- 19. GATS was negotiated in the context of the Uruguay Round of multilateral trade negotiations and is the first multilateral agreement governing all forms of international trade in services. It covers trade in all services, with the exception of much of the air transport sector, as well as those services supplied in the exercise of governmental authority^{xx} and seeks to establish a multilateral framework of principles and rules for trade in services with a view to the progressive liberalization and expansion of this trade.^{xxi} The Council for Trade in Services oversees the operation of the Agreement and generally meets four times a year.^{xxii}
- 20. GATS as with all WTO Agreements includes the principle of non-discrimination in two forms. First, the principle is manifested as what is known as "most favoured nation treatment" which requires each WTO member to accord to services and service suppliers of other WTO members treatment no less favourable than the treatment it accords to the services and service suppliers of any other country in other words, non-discrimination between foreign services and service suppliers. Second, the principle is manifested as "national treatment" which requires each WTO member to accord services and service suppliers of any other WTO member treatment no less favourable than the treatment it gives to its own like services and service suppliers in other words, non-discrimination between national and non-national services and service suppliers. The relationship between non-discrimination under trade law and under human rights law will be discussed in greater detail below.
- 21. Two parts of GATS are particularly relevant to human rights. First, the Agreement sets out the "general obligations and disciplines" that apply to all services within GATS and to all members. Some of the general obligations in GATS include: the principle of non-discrimination known as "most favoured nation treatment"; the promotion of transparency in relation to laws and regulations that affect trade in services; assurances that regulations affecting trade in services are applied in a reasonable, objective and impartial manner; a safeguard to protect countries facing serious balance of payment difficulties; provisions to increase developing country participation in world trade by strengthening their domestic services capacity, such as through technology transfer, improving their access to information, as well as by opening up markets in sectors relevant to developing country exports; xxvii and also, exceptions to the application of GATS in order to protect public morals, as well as human, animal and plant life.
- 22. Second, GATS sets out rules governing the commitments concerning the liberalization of specific service sectors that each WTO member makes. While the general obligations on members are applicable to all services that come within the scope of GATS, the GATS specific obligations only apply to those service sectors identified and scheduled by the member in question. Each country makes commitments set out in a schedule over 11 service sectors ranging from transport and communication services to health, education and tourism services across the four modes of service supply outlined above. Commitments are made in relation to "market access" and "national treatment".

- 23. Commitments on "market access" set out the terms, limitations and conditions for market access which a country must apply without discrimination to the services and service suppliers of all WTO members. There are six forms of limitation. A full commitment on "market access" would therefore prohibit a country from limiting access to its services markets. However, a country need not make a full commitment to "market access" and WTO members can determine individually the limitations, conditions and terms of "market access" that fall short of full market access. Such limitations, conditions and terms must be applied without discrimination to the services and service suppliers of all WTO members.
- 24. Commitments on "national treatment" set out the conditions and qualifications on national services and service supply in a particular country which will be applicable on a non-discriminatory basis to the services and service suppliers of other WTO members. A full commitment on "national treatment" prohibits a State from discriminating both de jure and de facto between domestic and foreign "like" services and service suppliers. In determining what constitutes discrimination of like services and service suppliers, much depends on the interpretation of "like". Would, for example, a not-for-profit education service supplier be "like" a for-profit education supplier? Little guidance is given in GATS on how to determine this.
- 25. As noted above, commitments under "market access" and "national treatment" are made voluntarily and countries' commitments can range from "unlimited market access" to "no commitment", or can subject trade to express limitations or qualifications. Thus, if a country registers "no commitment", it would be able to introduce new restrictions on trade so long as they were consistent with the general obligations imposed under the Agreement. However, where commitments are made, the Government undertakes not to introduce new restrictions. A country can modify or withdraw a commitment after three years have elapsed from the date the commitment came into force. That country will have to enter into negotiations for compensation with any country affected by the modification if requested to do so. **xxii* Among the 11 sectors, tourism, financial and business services have attracted the most commitments, while health and education services the least possibly as a result of the closer connection of the provision of these services to the enjoyment of human rights. **xxxii*
- 26. The Agreement also includes a built-in agenda which mandates further negotiations on the liberalization of trade in services with a view to achieving a higher level of progressive trade liberalization. The negotiations cover two main areas. First, they cover the further development of rules such as the development of a GATS-specific emergency safeguard mechanism and new rules in areas such as domestic regulations and subsidies. Second, they cover the negotiation of new country-specific commitments for further market access. The negotiations on the development of new rules have been ongoing since the close of the Uruguay Round although progress has been slow. Negotiations on specific commitments in the schedules were mandated to begin in January 2000.
- 27. In March 2001, WTO members adopted negotiating guidelines and procedures and currently they are in the process of making requests for new commitments to liberalize. The Ministerial Declaration adopted by WTO Ministers at the fourth Ministerial Conference in Doha in November 2001 confirmed that negotiations on services should be completed by January 2005. In relation to the negotiation of specific commitments under market access and national treatment, all WTO members should have submitted their "requests" for other WTO members to

open up their service sectors or to eliminate or change certain domestic regulations by June 2002. Members are currently in the process of designing their "offers" to other members, namely designating which sectors and in which ways they are willing to open their markets.

C. Relevant norms and standards of human rights law

- 28. The liberalization of trade in several service sectors is relevant to the enjoyment of human rights. Most directly, any commitments in the health, education or environmental sectors can affect the enjoyment of the right to health, the right to education and the right to development. Further, commitments to liberalization in other sectors, such as tourism, telecommunications, advertising, or even prison services, can impact on the enjoyment of human rights. Indeed, the privatization of prison services and its relationship with the administration of justice has already been the subject of study in the Sub-Commission (E/CN.4/Sub.2/1993/22). This section sets out the basic content of the rights to health, education and development as they relate to trade in services, with particular reference to the general comments of the CESCR, as a means of illustrating the standards that countries should bear in mind when liberalizing trade in services.
- 29. Article 12 of the ICESCR recognizes the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health.**xxiv* The specific steps set out in the ICESCR to be taken by States to achieve the full realization of the right to health include the creation of conditions that would assure to everyone medical service and medical attention in the event of sickness.**xxv* The Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights has set out the content of the right to health in general comment No. 14 (E/C.12/2000/4), noting that the right is not to be understood as a right to be healthy, but rather a set of freedoms and entitlements concerning health (ibid., para. 8). According to the CESCR, the right to health contains the following essential elements depending on the prevailing conditions in each country (ibid., para. 12). These elements are:
- (a) Availability the State party must make available functioning public health, and health-care facilities, goods and services, including safe drinking water, adequate sanitation facilities, hospitals, clinics, trained medical professionals and essential drugs;
- (b) Accessibility the State must assure access to health facilities, goods and services without discrimination. Accessibility is assessed according to physical accessibility, economic accessibility and information accessibility. In particular, accessibility includes appropriate resource allocation. For example, investments should not disproportionately favour expensive curative health services which are often accessible only to a small, privileged fraction of the population, rather than primary and preventive health care benefiting a far larger part of the population (ibid., para. 19);
- (c) Acceptability the State must ensure that health facilities, goods and services are respectful of medical ethics and are culturally appropriate;
- (d) *Quality* the State must ensure that health facilities, goods and services are also scientifically and medically appropriate and of good quality.

- 30. Some of the core obligations on States to promote the right to health include the following (ibid., para. 43):
- (a) To ensure the right of access to health facilities, goods and services on a non-discriminatory basis, especially for vulnerable or marginalized groups;
 - (b) To ensure equitable distribution of all health facilities, goods and services;
 - (c) To ensure access to an adequate supply of safe and potable water.
- 31. The State may violate the right to health through either its direct action or by the action of other entities insufficiently regulated by the State. Violations of the right to health may include (ibid., paras. 49-52):
- (a) The suspension of legislation or the adoption of laws or policies that interfere with the enjoyment of any of the components of the right to health;
- (b) The failure of the State to take into account its legal obligations regarding the right to health when entering into bilateral or multilateral agreements with other States, international organizations and other entities such as multinational corporations;
- (c) The failure to regulate the activities of individuals, groups or corporations so as to prevent them from violating the right to health of others;
- (d) The failure to take measures to reduce the inequitable distribution of health facilities, goods and services.
- 32. The liberalization of trade in educational services is relevant to the enjoyment of the right to education. The right to education is recognized in several international instruments. *xxxvi* Article 13, paragraph 2, of the ICESCR recognizes that, "with a view to achieving the full realization of this right:
 - "(a) Primary education shall be compulsory and available free to all;
 - "(b) Secondary education in its different forms shall be made generally available and accessible to all, in particular by the progressive introduction of free education;
 - "(c) Higher education shall be made equally accessible to all, on the basis of capacity, and in particular by the progressive introduction of free education."
- 33. As with the right to health, the CESCR has set out the basic content of the right in its general comment on the right to education (E/C.12/1999/10), while the Committee on the Rights of the Child has elaborated upon the aims of education in its first general comment (CRC/GC/2001/1). The CESCR has established that, while the realization of the right to education depends on the prevailing conditions in any particular country, the right contains the following elements (E/C.12/1999/10, para. 6):

- (a) Availability the State must ensure that functioning educational institutions and programmes are available in sufficient quantity. The requirement that educational institutions function depends on numerous factors, including the development context in which they operate;
- (b) Accessibility the State must ensure that educational institutions and programmes are accessible to everyone without discrimination. Accessibility includes physical and economic accessibility. In particular, education must be affordable to all. While primary education shall be free, States are required to introduce progressively free secondary and higher education. In relation to States' obligations to ensure non-discrimination and equal treatment in education, the CESCR has stated that States must closely monitor education including all relevant policies, institutions, programmes, spending patterns and other practices so as to identify and take measures to redress any de facto discrimination (ibid., para. 37);
- (c) Acceptability the State must ensure that the form and substance of education, including curricula and teaching methods, is acceptable to students and, where appropriate, parents;
- (d) Adaptability the State must ensure that education is flexible so it can adapt to the needs of changing societies and communities and respond to the needs of students.
- 34. In the context of liberalization, it is relevant to note that, while the right to education envisages the progressive realization of free education at all levels, the prohibition of private educational institutions constitutes a violation of the right to education (ibid., para. 59).
- 35. Internationally, States are specifically obliged to take steps to ensure that, in the negotiation and ratification of international agreements, such instruments do not adversely impact upon the right to education. States also have an obligation to ensure that their actions as members of international organizations, including international financial institutions, take due account of the right to education (ibid., para. 56).
- 36. The liberalization of trade in services is also relevant to the realization of the right to development. The right to development is recognized in the Declaration on the Right to Development as "an inalienable human right by virtue of which every human person and all peoples are entitled to participate in, contribute to, and enjoy economic, social, cultural and political development, in which all human rights and fundamental freedoms can be fully realized." Three elements of the right to development are particularly relevant to the liberalization of trade in services:
- (a) The human person is the central subject of development and should be the active participant and beneficiary of the right to development; xxxvii
- (b) States have the right and duty to formulate appropriate national development policies that aim at the constant improvement of the well-being of the entire population and of all individuals, on the basis of their active, free and meaningful participation in development and in the fair distribution of the benefits resulting from development; **xxxviii**

- (c) States have the duty to take steps, individually and collectively, to formulate international development policies with a view to facilitating the full realization of the right to development. **xxix**
- 37. The independent expert on the right to development has explained that the right to development is both a right to a process of development as well as a right to particular developmental outcomes. The development outcomes referred to include those freedoms and entitlements recognized as fundamental human rights, including basic levels of health care, drinking water, food security, education, safe working conditions and so on. In relation to process, the independent expert has noted that the processes of development should respect fundamental principles and goals of human rights, including the participation of those affected by development in the programming, implementation and monitoring of development. The independent expert has also noted that economic growth is an important element of the "process" of development envisaged by the right to development. **I

III. THE IMPACT OF TRADE IN SERVICES ON HUMAN RIGHTS

A. Issues arising from the liberalization of trade in services

- 38. The impact of the liberalization of trade in services on the enjoyment of human rights will take into account a range of issues, not least the type of services being supplied, the mode of service delivery, the development level of the country and its internal infrastructure, the regulatory environment and the level of existing services prior to liberalization. In particular, the effects of services trade liberalization could differ within countries between skilled and unskilled workers, urban and rural populations, rich and poor and so on. The following section will set out some of the opportunities and challenges posed to human rights as a result of the liberalization of trade in services, whether as a result of national policies, bilateral, regional or multilateral agreements or the implementation of World Bank and International Monetary Fund (IMF) programmes. The next section will look specifically at the issues arising in the framework of GATS.
- 39. In a general sense, the more efficient supply of services in any sector can promote economic growth and development, and therefore could provide the economic means needed to promote human rights. WTO notes that services liberalization can promote economic performance, provide a means for countries to capitalize on competitive strengths, offer lower prices to consumers in areas such as telecoms, promote faster innovations, and encourage technology transfer. **Ii* However, the liberalization of trade in services, without adequate governmental regulation and proper assessment of its effects, can also have undesirable effects. Different service sectors require different policies and time frames for liberalization and some areas are better left under governmental authority. In her latest report, the Special Rapporteur on the right to education stressed the fact that education is a governmental responsibility and a public service that continues to enjoy the support of the overwhelming majority of Governments in the world. However, the Special Rapporteur noted that exporters of education services have set the tone of education policy, slanting education towards an internationally traded service. The Special Rapporteur posed the question whether education is heading towards progressive

liberalization of trade in education services or progressive realization of the right to education and called for the development of global policy on the right to education at the primary, secondary, and post-secondary levels (E/CN.4/2002/60, paras. 20-21).

40. The following lists some of the opportunities and challenges of liberalizing trade in services according to the "mode" of supply. These observations concentrate on the health and education sectors, although many are also relevant to other sectors which can, directly or indirectly, also affect the enjoyment of human rights: xliii

1. Cross-border supply (mode 1)

41. Cross-border supply of health (telemedicine) or educational services via the Internet offer an important means of promoting access to education and health care, in particular to outlying communities and regions that have low levels of health and education infrastructure. They could also lower costs and allow more rapid access to these services. Nonetheless, access to services via the Internet requires the necessary infrastructure to be in place. If the telecommunications infrastructure does not exist in the country or region in question, or the community or individual concerned does not have the resources - financial or otherwise - to access the Internet, then cross-border supply might not offer many benefits to poor people. Without effective government policies to facilitate access to the Internet for poor people, existing inequalities between wealthy and poor or urban and rural populations might be exacerbated. This calls into question Governments' human rights obligations to ensure that health care and education services are both "available" and "accessible" to the people in their territories. Further, the Internet also poses regulatory problems for Governments. Governments might have difficulties ensuring the "acceptability" of services due to difficulties in ensuring the quality and content of health and educational services. It should, however, be noted that little *commercial* telemedicine as yet takes place across national borders. Finally, if Governments practice censorship of the Internet, this could affect individuals' civil and political rights to access some of the benefits offered by cross-border supply of services, which in turn could affect economic, social and cultural rights such as the right to education.

2. Consumption abroad (mode 2)

42. Increasingly, people are travelling overseas to seek medical treatment or to study. Where sending countries do not have adequate health or educational infrastructures, service consumption abroad can benefit people from both importing and exporting countries. In some cases, consumption abroad could be a means of implementing international cooperation provisions under human rights law, where, for example, scholarships are offered to poor overseas students. Similarly, income from foreign service users could be used to improve local health and education structures for the disadvantaged. However, trade in services based on consumption abroad can also introduce dual market structures and aggravate inequalities in service supply if careful government regulation and cross-subsidization policies are not implemented. For example, the education curriculum might direct itself more to satisfying the needs of paying foreign students than non-paying local students, and nationals might suffer or even be refused places in courses. Similarly, health systems could focus on providing expensive elective treatment for wealthy foreigners at the expense of preventive care for the poorer

segments of society. From a human rights perspective, this raises questions of discrimination, as well as "accessibility" and "quality" of health care and the "acceptability" and "adaptability" of education services.

3. Commercial presence (mode 3)

- 43. One of the benefits offered by the liberalization of services in mode three is the possibility of increasing foreign direct investment (FDI). Targeted FDI can upgrade national infrastructures, introduce new technologies and provide employment opportunities. Further, FDI can help reduce the burden on government resources which could then be directed to improving the public sector. FDI can also supplement government expenditures in essential services by supplying services which the Government was unable to supply before.
- 44. At the same time, the increased presence of foreign as with national private suppliers of essential services can pose challenges to Governments as the guarantors of human rights. Specifically, the introduction of user fees can reduce and even cut off service supply to the poor, marginalized or vulnerable. In the health sector, privatization may result in two-tiered service supply with a corporate segment focused on the healthy and wealthy and an underfinanced public sector focusing on the poor and sick. This in turn can lead to a brain drain with better trained medical practitioners and educators being drawn towards the private sector by higher pay rates and better infrastructures. Given that FDI is primarily driven by commercial objectives, the promotion of FDI in areas such as the health, water and education sectors will not necessarily be the most effective means of ensuring universal access to entitlements that at times can be unprofitable. Further, privatization that is leading to an increasingly large and powerful private sector can also threaten the Government's role as primary duty bearer for human rights. In the health sector, WHO has indicated that private sector companies can subvert health systems through political pressure and "regulatory capture", namely the co-opting of regulators to make regulations more favourable to them. **Iiii
- 45. To the extent that these phenomena can be linked to the liberalization of trade in services, regulators need to be conscious of ensuring that liberalization policies take into account State responsibilities to respect, protect and fulfil human rights. Human rights law does not place obligations on States to be the sole provider of essential services. However, States must guarantee the availability, accessibility, acceptability and adaptability/quality of essential services, including their supply, especially to the poor, vulnerable and marginalized, and to do so requires constant monitoring of policies and targeted action on behalf of independent regulators. These observations apply not only to the health and education sectors, but also to other sectors such as telecommunications which are important technological inputs that promote the realization of the right to development. For example, the World Bank has noted that liberalization could increase prices of some services and threaten the provision of transport and telecommunications services to the poor. **Iiv*
- 46. Mode 3 is therefore possibly the most problematic for the protection of human rights, raising both opportunities and challenges, in particular concerning the "availability" and "accessibility" of health and education services. In particular, the commercialization of education services

does not sit easily with States' commitments to make education progressively free at all levels. Further, the increasing power of the private sector in relation to Governments raises challenges to the capacity of the State as primary duty bearer for human rights.

4. Movement of natural persons (mode 4)

47. Reducing barriers to the transborder movement of service suppliers offers significant opportunities, in particular to service suppliers in developing countries in the areas of health, transport, construction and distribution. Indeed, mode 4 holds much potential for developing countries which could allow for much greater movement of the workforce in these countries. Increased mobility for service suppliers allows greater exchange of knowledge and experience that can improve service provision, particularly if the service suppliers return to the home country. While working overseas, service suppliers benefit from higher wages and better conditions of work, and the home country can also benefit if the service provider sends remittances and money transfers. However, there is also the risk that the movement of service suppliers will be permanent or semi-permanent, resulting in brain drain and therefore reductions in the quality and availability of supply in essential services in the source country. In the health sector in particular, brain drain is of major concern for developing countries with medical practitioners moving from middle-income to high-income countries and from low-income to middle-income countries. This can impose significant cost to the enjoyment of human rights in the source country by reducing the number and quality of medical practitioners and loss of return on investment in education and training of practitioners. Further, any remittances returned to the source country will not generally be channelled through the public sector. Moreover, the poorest countries bear the greatest burden resulting from brain drain.xlv Another issue that can arise concerns the treatment of service suppliers in the host countries, in particular where foreign service suppliers receive lower pay rates or the host country does not ensure respect for their labour and other rights. In its worst manifestation, people could be trafficked in order to provide services. Neither trade law nor human rights law sanctions such illegal trade, and this is an important area where the promotion of human rights provides a complement to trade law. It should be stressed that mode 4, in promoting freedom of movement, generally links positively with the promotion of human rights and could be beneficial to many people living in poorer countries in the future. In this regard, the High Commissioner refers to States' responsibilities to protect the human rights of workers contained in the ICESCR and encourages States to ratify the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families.

48. Not only do the effects of liberalization widely differ across "modes" of supply, they also differ according to the sector. For example, the World Bank has noted liberalization success stories in the field of information and communications technology. According to the World Bank, Indian software exports grew from \$225 million in 1992/93 to \$1.75 billion in 1997/98 with projected annual revenues of \$87 billion and 2.2 million jobs. By 2008, the information technology sector could account for 35 per cent of India's exports and attract \$5 billion of FDI a year. The liberalization of telecommunications has also led to great improvements in service supply, particularly in East and South Asia. A World Bank study on telecommunications reviewed the experience of liberalizing telecommunication services in East, South-East and southern Asian countries, indicating a positive contribution of liberal policy to the performance of telecommunications services in Asian developing countries. The study

indicated that with the availability of improved telecommunications technology and the liberalization of telecommunications services, the number of telephone users in the region is estimated to have trebled between 1990 and 2000 and that, despite the financial crises that hit the region in the latter part of the 1990s, Asia's share of fixed telephone lines in the world has grown from 23 per cent in 1990 to 33 per cent in 2000. xlvii Given the importance of information and telecommunications to providing infrastructure in other development areas, including health and education, this can be seen as an example of how liberalization can promote the right to development, and other human rights.

49. Nonetheless, in spite of some of the opportunities offered through increased trade in services, liberalization of essential service sectors can also have negative effects. There is currently a dispute before the International Centre for the Settlement of Investment Disputes of the World Bank concerning the liberalization of water services between the Government of Bolivia and a private water service supplier. In Cochabamba, Bolivia, the city's water system was liberalized to the subsidiary of a foreign service provider, leading to price increases of more than 35 per cent. This resulted in mass demonstrations and strike action that led the Government to reverse the decision to liberalize the sector and restore public ownership. The reversal of the decision to liberalize water services is consistent, under the circumstances, with the Government's obligation to ensure access to an adequate supply of safe drinking water as a component of the right to health. Importantly, not only is access to drinking water a human rights in itself; the enjoyment of this right is fundamentally linked to the guarantee of other rights such as the right to health, the right to food and the right to adequate housing. The action lodged by the service supplier against the Bolivian Government is still pending. The services is consistent.

50. The liberalization of trade in services can therefore have varied impacts on the enjoyment of human rights, across "modes" of supply, across service sectors, from country to country and depending on the individual concerned. The key question from a human rights perspective is not whether liberalization does or does not promote human rights; rather, it is how to determine the right form and pace of liberalization to ensure the protection of human rights and how to reverse policies that are unsuccessful. The World Bank, in noting that unregulated liberalization can lead to the replacement of public monopolies by private monopolies, poor investment decisions and insider trading, as well as no improvement in access to essential services for the poor, has stressed the need for effective competition policy, corporate transparency and policies to ensure universal service to accompany liberalization. Similarly, a report to the WHO Commission on Macroeconomics has highlighted the need for appropriate regulations, safeguards and supporting policies to meet the goals of equity and efficiency, noting that the impact of trade in health services on equity, access, costs, and quality of health services is in large part dependent on the policies and safeguards governments put in place. li In human rights terms, the need to regulate, as highlighted by the World Bank and WHO, is in fact a duty to regulate; the obligation on States to "fulfil" human rights requires States to take appropriate legislative, administrative, budgetary, judicial and other measures towards the full realization of such rights. iii Moreover, in order to ensure the adoption of the most appropriate policies and regulations, assessments of the potential and actual impact of services policies are fundamental. However, developing countries often do not have the capacity or infrastructure either to undertake assessments or to develop and implement the most appropriate regulations. In the context, the High Commissioner identifies this as an appropriate area for developed countries to fulfil their obligations and provide international cooperation and assistance.

B. Issues arising from GATS

- 51. While many policies, agreements and laws drive and shape the liberalization of trade in services, GATS is significant as the first multilateral agreement to set a legal framework to the liberalization process. Given the opportunities and challenges posed by the liberalization of trade in services to the enjoyment of human rights, it is important to understand the interaction between the rules and disciplines in the GATS and the norms and standards of human rights law. The following section sets out the main issues that arise in considering GATS in light of States' obligations under human rights law.
- 52. Scope of GATS. GATS applies to all measures by WTO members affecting trade in services and applies to all services with the exception of those services provided in the exercise of governmental authority. Thus, GATS applies to:
- (a) All measures affecting trade this includes measures taken at all levels of government whether central, regional or local government; liii
 - (b) All trade in services namely across the four "modes" of service supply; liv
- (c) All services with the exception of those provided in the exercise of governmental authority. A service supplied in the exercise of governmental authority means any service which is supplied neither on a commercial basis, nor in competition with one or more service suppliers. Iv
- 53. The scope of GATS is consequently broad. It involves measures taken by all levels of government, across all modes of supply and across all service sectors. The exclusion of services supplied in the exercise of governmental authority could be significant from a human rights perspective given the role of Government as the primary duty bearer for human rights as well as the traditional importance of government service supply in areas relevant to the enjoyment of human rights such as health, education and water. The exclusion of governmental services, however, is qualified. It relates only to those governmental services supplied, first, not on a commercial basis and, second, not in competition with other suppliers. Given that many essential services that promote human rights are delivered through a mix of public and private service delivery, many governmental services might still come within GATS. The exact scope of GATS has therefore provoked much discussion. Ivi
- 54. Understanding which services fall within GATS is important. If GATS does cover a service, then all the general obligations the first form of non-discrimination mentioned above (most favoured nation), transparency and so on will apply to measures at the central, regional and local government level over all modes of supply. This is so, even where a country has not made voluntary commitments to market access and national treatment over specific service sectors in the country-specific schedules. For example, country A, a WTO member, did not make any commitments to liberalize trade in health services in its schedule. The Government runs many of the national hospitals, although private companies also provide hospital services and run some hospitals. However, there is a shortage of medical practitioners in the government hospitals which is affecting the enjoyment of the right to health. In an effort to meet its human rights obligations, country A enters into a bilateral agreement with country B another WTO

member - allowing medical practitioners from that country to supply health services in country A on a temporary basis. In spite of the fact that country A has not made commitments to liberalize trade in health services in its schedules, the agreement with country B might be in violation of GATS if health services such as these come within the scope of its general obligations. This is because the bilateral agreement with country B might violate the principle of most favoured nation treatment as it gives preferential treatment to service suppliers from one WTO member over others. However, in this scenario, if health services do not come within the scope of GATS, there would be no violation of GATS. Wii Given the fact that the Government's actions were undertaken to fulfil the right to health, the interpretation of the actual scope of GATS might affect a State's ability to respect, protect and fulfil human rights in this hypothetical example. It is important to note that measures taken by Governments to respect, protect and fulfil human rights might in some, and possibly many, cases also come within the scope of GATS and therefore be subject to its rules. The High Commissioner highlights the broad scope of the GATS and encourages interpretations of its scope to ensure that GATS obligations do not constrain Governments from taking action to promote or protect human rights.

- 55. The right to regulate. The regulation of service supply for economic, social and environmental reasons is a legitimate area of public policy and an important means of promoting and protecting human rights. Such regulation can take different forms, including quality and safety standards or professional practice standards. Subsidies, the obligation to provide universal services, or disciplines on anti-competitive practices are other forms of governmental regulation that can be important to the services sector. The preamble to GATS specifically recognizes "the right of Members to regulate and to introduce new regulations on the supply of services within their territories in order to meet national policy objectives" and accepts the particular need of developing countries to exercise this right. In human rights terms, the Declaration on the Right to Development declares that "States have the right and the duty to formulate appropriate national development policies that aim at the constant improvement of the well-being of the entire population and of all individuals ...". Indeed, what is referred to as a right under GATS is in fact a duty to regulate under human rights law.
- 56. Domestic regulation. Nevertheless, regulations are "measures" that come within the scope of GATS which means that even in the absence of commitments the general obligations such as the principle of non-discrimination (known as most favoured nation) under the Agreement will apply to domestic regulations. Further, GATS contains specific provisions on a particular subset of domestic regulations, namely those related to technical standards, licensing and qualification requirements and GATS includes a mandate for the negotiation of new disciplines in this area. Ix Ixi Specifically, the mandate aims at devising means to ensure that such regulations or measures do not constitute unnecessary barriers to trade by ensuring that they are based on objective and transparent criteria and are not more burdensome than necessary to ensure the quality of the service. Ixii
- 57. So far, WTO members have devised such disciplines for one particular services sector, namely accounting services, and they are currently discussing disciplines for other service sectors. The most significant element of these disciplines has been the introduction of a "necessity test" a requirement that measures relating to licensing, technical standards and qualifications are not more trade-restrictive than necessary to fulfil the legitimate policy objective the regulation aims to achieve. Ixiii In other words, even where a domestic regulation

relating to qualifications, technical standards or licensing requirements is applied in a non-discriminatory manner, it might still be considered inconsistent with GATS if it is considered to be "more trade-restrictive than necessary".

- 58. On the one hand, the "necessity test" would not stop a Government regulating services; it would only require a regulator to use the least trade-restrictive means which it could reasonably be expected to employ to achieve the particular level of protection of the legitimate objective pursued for example, a particular safety requirement. On the other hand, a measure calculated to promote the enjoyment of human rights for example health or water safety standards might have to consider its trade-restrictiveness as one of its decisive elements. The question arises whether this has the effect of subordinating human rights obligations to trade rules. The High Commissioner emphasizes that a human rights approach to trade sets the enjoyment of all human rights among the objectives of trade liberalization, not as an issue secondary to trade objectives. In this sense, any judgement of the trade-restrictiveness of a measure should take into account States' obligations under human rights law.
- 59. Non-discrimination. While the principle of non-discrimination exists under both human rights and trade law, the High Commissioner has already highlighted that there are distinctions in the application of the principle. Under trade law, the second form of the principle of non-discrimination referred to above, known as "national treatment", envisages equal treatment for national services or service suppliers and "like" foreign services or service suppliers - whether large corporations or small and not-for-profit service organizations or government service suppliers. Under human rights law, the principle of non-discrimination goes beyond this in nature and substance. As noted above, under human rights law, States undertake to guarantee that rights will be exercised without discrimination of any kind as to race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status and that any distinction, exclusion, restriction or preference which is based on any of these grounds will constitute a violation of the principle. Importantly, the human rights principle does not envisage according equal treatment to everyone in all cases, but rather supports affirmative action in the interests of promoting the human rights of the poor and vulnerable (E/CN.4/2002/54, para. 43). Understanding the nature of the application of the trade law and human rights law principle of non-discrimination will be important, particularly given the recent acknowledgment of the International Law Commission that the principle of non-discrimination, at least on the basis of race, is clearly accepted as a peremptory norm of international law - an indication of the fundamental nature of the human rights principle of non-discrimination (A/56/10, p. 208).
- 60. Take the case of subsidies. Although subsidies are tools of disputed value, they have been used successfully, in particular to protect domestic industry and services as well as to promote greater equality in service delivery. "Cross-subsidization" such as government schemes ensuring that wealthy people subsidize access to health care for the poor or maintaining lower interest rates for loans in rural as compared to urban areas, can be a means of reducing poverty, assisting the development of local infant service suppliers, increasing universal access to essential services and thus promoting human rights. GATS subjects the grant of subsidies to the trade principle of non-discrimination. According to the non-discrimination (national treatment) principle, where a Government has made commitments in a particular service sector in its schedule under national treatment, GATS requires subsidies to national service suppliers or services to be available to

like foreign service providers and services, unless an exception is specifically made in the national schedule. Thus, for example, where commitments were made in the education sector, the Government that provides a subsidy to a domestic not-for-profit education service provider might have to provide the same subsidy to a foreign for-profit service providers.

- 61. The example raises many issues and depends on many variables. However, if the requirement to provide a subsidy to all like service providers leads to the withdrawal of the government subsidy, the question arises as to the effect on the realization of the right to education. Further, does the application of the principle of non-discrimination in this situation have the effect of denying to Governments in particular developing country Governments the possibility of using development tools such as subsidies that have been generously used in the past by wealthier countries? What then is the impact on States' ability to promote the right to development? If the application of trade law, or even trade liberalization policies generally, threatens "cross-subsidization" or other policies guaranteed to ensure universal service supply or raises prices of services for the poor, lsvi the reduction in quality and quantity of services to the poor, isolated or vulnerable might result in de facto discrimination under human rights law.
- 62. GATS mandates negotiations on subsidies in order to develop disciplines to avoid their possible trade-distortive effects. Significantly, the mandate for these negotiations specifically refers to the need to ensure flexibility in recognition of the role of subsidies in relation to development programmes of developing countries. While the discussions on subsidies have so far been superficial, the High Commissioner welcomes the specific reference to the need to take into account the concerns of developing countries and encourages all WTO members to acknowledge in any such negotiations the responsibility of all countries to respect human rights. Moreover, the High Commissioner underlines that it will be important for States to take a cautious approach when making commitments to open services markets in their schedules. The High Commissioner also highlights the need to ensure that the application of trade principles takes into account the human rights principle of non-discrimination, including by safeguarding the need to create mechanisms to ensure that the poor have adequate access to services in liberalized markets.
- 63. General exceptions. GATS includes general exceptions to protect public morals as well as human, animal and plant life and the protection of the privacy of individuals (in relation to the processing and dissemination of personal data). The protection of public morals, life and privacy are familiar themes to human rights law and their inclusion in GATS could be seen as a link to the promotion and protection of human rights, such as the right to life, the right to health and aspects of the right to privacy. While a human rights approach would place the promotion of human rights at the centre of the objectives of GATS rather than as permitted exceptions, these links nonetheless provide an entry point for a human rights approach to liberalization and a means of ensuring that the essentially commercial objectives of GATS can be implemented with respect for human rights. This link could also be relevant in determining the appropriate sources of international law relevant to the interpretation of the provisions of GATS in future rulings by the WTO Dispute Settlement Body or the Appellate Body.
- 64. *Modifications of schedules*. GATS includes the possibility of modifying or withdrawing commitments entered into a schedule with a requirement that the modifying State will enter into negotiations at the request of any WTO member affected by the change with a view to reaching

agreement on any necessary compensatory adjustment. Modification of schedules might be necessary to protect against the unforeseen consequences of commitments to liberalize which can disproportionately affect the poor or vulnerable - in particular where proper assessment of the potential affects of liberalization was not undertaken. The question arises, however, whether compensation in all cases of modification or withdrawal is appropriate. From a commercial perspective, holding countries to their commitments to liberalize is important to ensure transparency and predictability in international trade and the payment of compensation is a legitimate commercial response to the settlement of disputes. From a human rights perspective, however, the focus is less on predictability and more on the need for flexibility to modify or withdraw commitments to liberalize trade in services where experience demonstrates that a commitment constrains or limits the enjoyment of human rights. The need for flexibility is particularly relevant for developing countries given that they are in a dynamic process of building social infrastructures. For these countries, as the level of social development changes, the most appropriate form and pace of liberalization might fluctuate accordingly. Moreover, while compensation to affected parties might be appropriate in some cases upon withdrawal of commitments, a human rights approach would question whether States should be sanctioned for taking action to protect human rights. In particular, the requirement of paying compensation might act to discourage States from action which, in turn, could reinforce the status quo or even exacerbate existing problems. Any eventual interpretation of the scope of the general exceptions in GATS to protect public morals, life and health might be important in resolving the potential tension between ensuring transparency and commercial predictability and protecting human rights.

- 65. Progressive liberalization and assessments. As already noted, the preamble to GATS sets the early achievement of progressively higher levels of liberalization of trade in services as one of its objectives. This objective is specifically reinforced in the context of the negotiations on country commitments on specific service areas. The Agreement states that "(t)he process of progressive liberalization shall be advanced in each such round [of negotiations] through bilateral, plurilateral or multilateral negotiations directed towards increasing the general level of specific commitments undertaken by members". Ixxi From a human rights perspective, it will be essential that, in meeting the objective of progressive liberalization under trade law, WTO members also meet their concurrent obligation of progressive realization of human rights in particular, taking into account the fact that certain services are entitlements, not privileges, and should be guaranteed by the State. Much will depend on the commitments that States make to open markets in their schedules.
- 66. As already noted, commitments under GATS are voluntary and determined through negotiations with other WTO members. Given the various issues that arise in the liberalization of trade in services, the commitments made to opening markets could have fundamental consequences for States' ability to meet their obligations under human rights law. Opening some sectors in some ways might have positive impacts on growth and development while other sectors, particularly health and education and sectors that affect water supply, should be treated very carefully and might require more sophisticated supplementary measures or sequencing. While health and education commitments are currently the lowest-committed sectors, this might change in response to negotiating pressures.

67. The High Commissioner therefore encourages States to open markets through WTO negotiations only on the basis of sound empirical evidence gathered through assessments. In this sense, the High Commissioner welcomes the Guidelines and Procedures for the GATS negotiations that mandate the Council for Trade in Services in special sessions to continue to carry out assessments of trade in services in overall terms and on a sectoral basis and to adjust negotiations on the basis of such assessments. Ixxii In fulfilment of this mandate, the High Commissioner encourages States to undertake human rights assessments and to raise these in the Council on Trade in Services. Those assessments should seek to understand better the impact of actual and potential trade policies on the enjoyment of human rights such as health, education, drinking water supply and development, and further should be based on thorough consultation with the people affected by liberalizing trade in services - the poor, rural populations, vulnerable groups, industry and Government, including the education, health, environment, transport ministries, not only trade and finance departments. Such assessments will be important, not only in assessing the impact of existing liberalization commitments, but also in examining the potential impact of future policies, before any further commitments to liberalization are undertaken. In particular, given the difficulty in reversing commitments to liberalization, assessments will be important in assisting States to find the most appropriate liberalization policies to meet national development and human rights objectives. The High Commissioner underlines the importance of developed countries' sharing both financial and technical expertise to support developing countries to undertake human rights assessments of liberalization.

IV. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

- 68. The liberalization of trade in services presents both opportunities as well as challenges to the enjoyment of human rights. While liberalization offers opportunities for increased economic growth and development, the liberalization process, in particular where it leads to unregulated private sector activities, can threaten universal access for the poor to essential services. States hold responsibilities, both nationally and internationally, to guarantee universal service supply according to national capacities and should therefore not leave the concerns of human welfare solely to market forces. Developing human rights approaches to GATS by negotiating, interpreting and implementing trade rules in accordance with the norms and standards of human rights will maximize the benefits of the international trade in services while minimizing its challenges. Moreover, adopting human rights approaches to GATS will help States reconcile their obligations under human rights and trade law. Put simply, a human rights approach seeks the means by which the progressive liberalization of trade in services can take place in a way that advances the objective of promoting and protecting human rights. The conduct of negotiations that achieve significant results of liberalization in areas in which there is the greatest positive impact on people - such as under mode 4, the movement of natural persons - could be one step to achieve this. The High Commissioner identifies the following areas of action as a step in elaborating human rights approaches to the liberalization of trade in services.
- 69. Ensuring equal access for basic services. The High Commissioner emphasizes that all people are entitled without discrimination to certain levels of health care, education, drinking water supply and other basic services and that these entitlements should be protected in the processes of liberalization and privatization. In particular, the High Commissioner emphasizes that States, in spite of their diminishing role in service supply, should not rely solely on market

forces to resolve problems concerning human welfare. While increasing investments from the local and overseas private sector can assist States in the provision of basic entitlements, the State has the responsibility of ensuring the delivery of services on a non-discriminatory basis, even where this might be unprofitable. Consequently, the High Commissioner encourages States to take action to ensure universal supply of essential services, including through the use of affirmative action to ensure provision of services to the poor, isolated and marginalized, taking into account national circumstances and capacities.

70. Ensuring Governments' right and duty to regulate. The High Commissioner encourages States to ensure that they have the flexibility at the local, regional and central government level to use development tools in order to exercise their "right and duty to formulate appropriate development policies that aim at the constant improvement of the well-being of the entire population and of all individuals". In particular, the High Commissioner encourages interpretations of GATS provisions that acknowledge the need for countries to retain the flexibility to use development tools, such as cross-subsidization or the regulation of corporate governance, in response to national development needs and to promote universal service supply - in particular for developing countries that are still in the process of establishing social infrastructures as the foundation for progressively realizing human rights. In this regard, the High Commissioner welcomes the recognition in GATS of States' right to regulate and to introduce new regulations and its reiteration in the Declaration of the fourth WTO Ministerial Conference held in Doha in 2001.

71. Encouraging interpretations of GATS that are compatible with human rights. The High Commissioner reminds WTO members of their concurrent obligations under human rights law. Consequently, she encourages interpretations of GATS that acknowledge States' obligations to respect, protect and fulfil human rights, including by ensuring that the broad scope of GATS rules does not constrain Governments in taking action to promote and protect human rights. Further, the High Commissioner encourages WTO members to acknowledge explicitly that the promotion and protection of human rights are legitimate objectives and binding obligations to be taken into account in the process of trade liberalization. In the context of future negotiations on subsidies or domestic regulations, the High Commissioner encourages the development of rules or "tests" that acknowledge and protect States' duties concerning human rights in determining or assessing whether a measure is trade restrictive.

72. Undertaking human rights assessments of trade policies. The High Commissioner highlights the voluntary nature of commitments to liberalize trade in services and stresses the need to make commitments on the basis of sound empirical evidence. To this end, the High Commissioner encourages States to undertake public, independent and transparent human rights assessments of the impact of liberalization policies - both past policies and future options - on the enjoyment of human rights, through a participatory and consultative process with concerned individuals and groups. The High Commissioner encourages States to use these assessments as the basis for WTO negotiations on progressive liberalization. Where assessments are not available, the High Commissioner encourages States to adopt a cautious approach to making new commitments until the relevant facts are available. Further, where assessments indicate negative effects of past liberalization policies on the enjoyment of human rights, then the High Commissioner encourages WTO members to allow the maximum flexibility to these countries to withdraw liberalization commitments.

- 73. Providing international cooperation and assistance. International cooperation and assistance is a fundamental aspect of international human rights obligations and a necessary measure to secure a just and equitable international and social order. In this regard, the High Commissioner reminds developed countries of their commitment, made at the special session of the General Assembly on follow-up to the World Summit on Social Development held in Geneva in June 2000, to provide 0.7 per cent of GDP as official development assistance. In particular, the High Commissioner encourages donor countries to provide financial and technical assistance to developing countries to undertake human rights assessments. Similarly, donor countries could assist developing countries, through financial assistance and sharing of know-how on the means and mechanisms for promoting universal service supply, as well as for establishing transparent and independent bodies to regulate corporate governance. Further, the High Commissioner reminds States of their responsibility to take into account their obligations in the field of economic, social and cultural rights when entering into multilateral agreements with other States and in this regard, specifically recommends that larger WTO members, particularly developed countries, negotiate in ways that enable poorer countries to maintain the maximum flexibility to develop policies to meet commitments to the progressive realization of human rights.
- 74. *Increasing dialogue on human rights and trade*. The High Commissioner stresses the need for greater understanding of the inter-reaction between trade liberalization and the enjoyment of human rights as a means of achieving greater balance and coherence in international law and policy-making. In particular, the High Commissioner highlights the need to improve the dialogue between human rights, trade, finance and environmental practitioners and encourages more concerted consultation in this respect. At the national level, the High Commissioner encourages improved consultation between social sector and trade/finance ministries and encourages greater dialogue with civil society. Within civil society groups, the High Commissioner encourages dialogue between trade and human rights organizations at the national and international levels. At the international level, the High Commissioner encourages greater consultation between delegates to the WTO and delegates representing the same country at the Commission on Human Rights, specifically on the links between human rights and trade and on particular ways to ensure coherence in policy and rule making.
- 75. Future work. The High Commissioner notes that the scope of GATS and the application of its rules remain untested and is still in a process of development. As the negotiations proceed over the next three years, the openness of the system and the compatibility of progressive liberalization under GATS and progressive realization of human rights will become clearer. Consequently, the High Commissioner encourages the Sub-Commission to retain this issue on its agenda and to review the negotiations as they proceed with a view to ensuring maximum coherence between the rules and policies of trade liberalization and the enjoyment of human rights. For further work on human rights and trade generally, the High Commissioner recommends that the Sub-Commission consider requesting a report on "human rights, trade and investment".

Notes

- viii See, e.g., ICESCR, article 2 (1): "Each State Party to the present Covenant undertakes to take steps, individually and through international assistance and cooperation, especially economic and technical, to the maximum of its available resources, with a view to achieving progressively the full realization of the rights recognized in the present Covenant by all appropriate means, including particularly the adoption of legislative measures."
- ^{ix} Limburg Principles on the Implementation of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, paras. 21-23.
- ^x Maastricht Guidelines, para. 14. Similarly, the calculated obstruction of, or halt to, the progressive realization of a right protected by the Covenant, unless the State is acting within a limitation permitted by the Covenant or it does so due to a lack of available resources or force majeure.
- xi See, e.g., UDHR, article 28, "Everyone is entitled to a social and international order in which the rights and freedoms set forth in this Declaration can be fully realized"; Limburg Principles, para. 30.
- xii See, e.g., UDHR, article 22; ICESCR, article 2 (1); Declaration on the Right to Development, article 2 (3).

ⁱ Universal Declaration on Human Rights (UDHR), preamble.

ⁱⁱ The Committee is charged with monitoring the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR).

The Declaration on the Right to Development, article 2 (1); see also article 2 of the Universal Declaration, "Everyone is entitled to all the rights and freedoms set forth in this Declaration, without discrimination of any kind ...".

iv Human Rights Committee, General Comment No. 18 on "Non-discrimination".

^v Declaration on the Right to Development, article 2 (3).

vi Maastricht Guidelines on Violations of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, para. 6.

vii Maastricht Guidelines, paras. 2 and 18.

xiii Maastricht Guidelines, para. 15.

xiv Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), "Open Services Markets Matter", Trade Directorate, Trade Committee, Working Party of the Trade Committee, December 2001 (TD/TC/WP(2001)24/FINAL), p. 14.

xv Rupa Chanda, "Trade in Health Services", World Health Organization, Commission on Macroeconomics and Health, Working Paper No. WG.4:5, Geneva, June 2001, pp. 1-2.

xvi See GATS, article 1 (2).

wii World Bank, <u>Global Economic Prospects</u>, "Trade in Services: Using Openness to Grow", Washington D.C., October 2001, p. 71. WTO, "Market Access: Unfinished Business - Post Uruguay Round Inventory and Issues", Special Studies 6, WTO, Geneva, April 2001, p. 98.

xviii TD/TC/WP(2001)24/FINAL, pp. 11-14.

xix WTO, "Market Access", op. cit., p. 97.

xx GATS, article 1.

xxi GATS, preamble. The preamble notes, "wishing to establish a multilateral framework of principles and rules for trade in services with a view to the expansion of such trade under conditions of transparency and progressive liberalization and as a means of promoting the economic growth of all trading partners and the development of developing countries".

xxii GATS, article XXIV.

xxiii GATS, article II.

xxiv GATS, article XVII.

xxv GATS, see generally Part II (General obligations and disciplines) and Part III (Specific commitments).

xxvi GATS, article II (1) states that "With respect to any measure covered by this Agreement, each member shall accord immediately and unconditionally to services and service suppliers of any other member treatment no less favourable than that it accords to like services and service suppliers of any other country."

xxvii GATS, article IV.

xxviii The 17 sectors are business (including professional and computer) services, communication services, construction and related engineering services, distribution services, educational services, environmental services, financial (insurance and banking) services, health-related and social services, tourism and travel-related services, transport services, other services.

xxix GATS, article XVI (1).

The six permitted limitations are: limitations on the number of service suppliers; limitations on the total value of service transactions or assets; limitations on the total number of service operations or on the total quantity of service output; limitations on the total number of natural persons that may be employed in a particular service or that a service supplier may employ; measures that restrict or require specific types of legal entity or joint venture; and limitations on the participation of foreign capital.

xxxi GATS, article XXI, "Modification of Schedules".

wxxii WTO, "Market access", op. cit., p. 104.

xxxiii GATS, article XIX.

xxxiv See also UDHR, article 25, Convention on the Rights of the Child, article 24.

xxxv ICESCR, article 12 (d).

xxxvi UDHR, article 26, ICESCR, articles 13 and 14, Convention on the Rights of the Child, articles 28 and 29.

xxxvii Declaration on the Right to Development, article 2 (1).

xxxviii Declaration on the Right to Development, article 2 (3).

xxxix Declaration on the Right to Development, article 4 (1).

see E/CN.4/2002/WG.18/2, section I, in particular, references to GNP in paragraph 3. Further, see the report of the Open-Ended Working Group on the Right to Development (E/CN.4/2002/28, conclusions and recommendations) that noted the need to make available to all the benefits of information and communication technologies as an element of the right to development.

wto, "GATS - Fact and Fiction", from http://www.wto.org. TD/TC/WP(2001)24/FINAL, p. 16. To illustrate some of the benefits flowing from liberalization, the OECD refers to empirical research indicating that in Egypt, output stood to rise by as much as 4 per cent should service sectors become more open to competition. The OECD also notes that liberalization of telecommunications, construction, transportation, business and insurance, distribution and finance services could provide welfare gains equivalent to 7 per cent of GDP in Tunisia while Indian welfare could expand by 0.7-1.4 per cent of GDP following a 25 per cent global reduction in services protection.

xlii The following summary is adapted from Chanda, op. cit., pp. 15-25.

xliii WHO, The World Health Report 2000: Health Systems, Improving Performance, WHO, Geneva, 2000, pp. 128-129.

will World Bank, "Global Economic Prospects", op. cit., p. 80.

xlv Chanda, op. cit., pp. 22-23. Chanda notes that brain drain in the health sector is of major concern for developing countries and gives the example of South Africa where an estimated 10,000 health professionals emigrated from the country during the 1989-1997 period, with the majority going to the United Kingdom and the United States. In Ghana, some 60 per cent of Ghanaian doctors trained locally during the 1980s left the country and there are over 21,000 Nigerian doctors practising in the United States. Even developed countries such as Canada have experienced brain drain to the United States.

xlvi World Bank, <u>Global Economic Prospects</u>, op. cit., p. 73 and Carsten Fink, A. Mattoo and R. Rathindran, "Liberalizing Basic Telecommunications: The Asian Experience", The World Bank, November 2001.

xivii Fink, op. cit., pp. 3, 6, 13 and 17. The study also found that comprehensive reform - by which it meant privatization, competition and regulation - was also associated with higher levels of mainline availability, service quality and labour productivity. However, the study emphasized the need for a nuanced approach to liberalization, stressing the importance of effective government regulation of services and the need for managed competition.

xlviii J. Hilary "The Wrong Model: GATS, trade liberalization and children's right to health", Save the Children, London, 2001, p. 43.

xlix Aguas del Tunari S.A. v Republic of Bolivia (Case No. ARB/02/3) registered 25 February 2002. For more information see http://www.worldbank.org/icsid/cases/pending.htm.

liii Article I (3) (a) clarifies that "measures by members" includes any measure taken by (i) central, regional or local governments and authorities as well as (ii) non-governmental bodies in the exercise of powers delegated by central, regional or local governments or authorities.

lvii The health example was adapted from Krajewski, M., "Public Services and the Scope of the General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS): A research paper", written for the Centre for

¹ World Bank, "Global Economic Prospects", op. cit., p. 78.

li Chanda, op. cit., p. 24.

lii Maastricht Guidelines, para. 6.

liv GATS, article 1 (2).

^{lv} GATS, article 1 (1) and 1 (3) (b) and (c).

Ivi For a review of different positions, see WTO, "GATS - Fact and Fiction", http://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/serv_e/gats_factfiction_e.htm (accessed on 29 April 2002); S. Sinclair and J. Grieshaber-Otto, "Facing the Facts: A guide to the GATS debate", Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives, Ottawa, 2002; OECD, op. cit.

International Environmental Law (CIEL), Geneva, 2001, p. 5. The research paper gives another example of a country that makes an unconditioned market access commitment under mode 3 (commercial presence) in postal services. If the country maintains a monopoly for its national postal service concerning letter distribution (but not in other postal services), this monopoly could violate GATS disciplines on monopoly providers (article VIII) and the market access commitments (article XVI). This would only be in the case where the supply of postal services would be covered by the GATS.

lviii Declaration on the Right to Development, article 2 (3).

lix GATS, article XXVIII defines a "measure" as "any measure by a Member, whether in the form of a law, regulation, rule, procedure, decision, administrative action, or any other form".

lx GATS, article VI.

^{lxi} Examples of these are: qualification requirements - professional accreditation, educational requirements, certification of competency. Licensing requirements - broadcast licences, university accreditation, facilities licensing for clinics, hospitals and laboratories, waste disposal permits. Technical standards - water quality standards, pipeline safety, toxic waste disposal and storage standards.

lxii GATS, article VI (4).

lxiii WTO, "Market Access", op. cit., p. 123.

lxiv See common article 2 of the two International Covenants on Human Rights and Human Rights Committee, General Comment No. 18, 1989, paras. 8 and 10.

lxv For example, the question arises whether a for-profit and a not-for-profit organization would be considered "like" service providers. Another issue concerns territorial application of trade rules - a Government could not be obliged to subsidize the cross-border delivery of such a service, where the service supplier is located outside of the country.

lawi World Bank, Global Economic Prospects, op. cit., p. 80 states "If a country is a relatively inefficient producer of a service, liberalization and the resultant foreign competition are likely to lead to a decline in domestic prices and improvement in quality. But there is a twist. Frequently, the prices before liberalization are not determined by the market but set administratively, and are kept artificially low for certain categories of end-users and types of services products. Thus rural borrowers may pay lower interest rates than urban borrowers, and prices of local telephone calls and public transport may be kept lower than the cost of provision. This structure of prices is often sustained through cross-subsidization within public monopolies, or through government financial support. Liberalization threatens these arrangements."

lxvii GATS, article XV.

lxviii WTO, "Market Access", op.cit., p. 121.

lxix GATS, article XIV.

lxx GATS, article XXI.

lxxi GATS, article XIX.

lxxii Council for Trade in Services, Guidelines and Procedures for the GATS 2000 Negotiations, March 2001, para. 14. Article XIX of GATS in fact mandates the Council for Trade in Services to carry out an assessment of trade in services with reference to the objectives of GATS. The question arises as to the extent to which social and environmental concerns, or human rights could implicitly be read into those objectives, if at all.

lxxiii Declaration on the Right to Development, article 2 (3).
